100112-6

FILED Court of Appeals Division II State of Washington 8/20/2021 4:55 PM

FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 8/23/2021 BY ERIN L. LENNON CLERK

COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION II, OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

No. 52906-8-II

PROTECT ZANGLE COVE; COALITION TO PROTECT PUGET SOUND HABITAT; and WILD FISH CONSERVANCY,

Petitioners,

v.

WASHINGTON DEPARTMENT OF FISH AND WILDLIFE; JOE STOHR, Acting Director of the Washington Department of Fish and Wildlife; and PACIFIC NORTHWEST AQUACULTURE, LLC,

Respondents,

and

TAYLOR SHELLFISH COMPANY, INC.,

Respondent-Intervenor,

PETITION FOR REVIEW

I. IDENTITY OF PETITIONERS

Petitioners Protect Zangle Cove, the Coalition to Protect Puget Sound Habitat, and the Wild Fish Conservancy ask this Court to review the Court of Appeals decision terminating review in this case.

II. COURT OF APPEALS DECISION

The Court of Appeals, Division II, filed its published opinion on June 8, 2021. A copy of that opinion is in the Appendix at A-1 to A-31. That court denied Petitioners' timely motion for reconsideration by an order entered on July 21, 2021. A copy of that order is in the Appendix at A-32.

III. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

Issue One: Did Division II err in its interpretation of the Hydraulic Code, RCW 77.55, which requires the Washington Department of Fish & Wildlife to protect fish from harm caused by hydraulic projects, when it held that the Aquatic Act, RCW 77.115, removes, in large part, WDFW's authority to enforce the Code against hydraulic projects undertaken by the aquaculture industry?

<u>Issue Two</u>. Did the trial court err by failing to invalidate WAC 220-660-040(2)(1), which largely exempts the aquaculture industry from requirements of the Hydraulic Code, RCW 77.55?

IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Division II's published opinion capably sets forth the facts, legislative history, and procedure in this case. Op. at 3-12.

In short, Pacific Northwest Aquaculture ("PNA") seeks to establish a shellfish farm, which involves installing 47,900 PVC tubes, covered by 16 area nets, on 1.1 acres of tidelands in a nearly pristine estuary. Op. at 4.

On its face, the Hydraulic Code, RCW 77.55 ("Code"), requires any person or entity undertaking such a project to secure a permit from the Washington Department of Fish & Wildlife ("WDFW") to ensure construction is accomplished in a manner that protects fish life. Op. at 14, 16; *see id.* at 5-6. However, in 2007, the Attorney General issued an opinion ("2007 AGO"), which concluded that the Aquatic Act, RCW 77.115 ("Act") removed WDFW's authority to enforce the Code as to most projects undertaken by aquaculture facilities. Op. at 9-11. WDFW adopted WAC 220-660-040(2)(1) to bring its policies in line with the 2007 AGO, exempting commercial aquaculture facilities from the Code's requirements, with the exception of "accessory hydraulic structures, such as bulkheads or boat ramps." Op. at 10-11; *see* WAC 220-660-040(2)(1).

Petitioners sought declaratory and injunctive relief in Thurston County Court, contending that the aquaculture industry was subject to the requirements of the Hydraulic Code and that WAC 220-660-040(2)(1) was invalid as beyond WDFW's statutory rulemaking authority, and requesting that PNA's construction be enjoined until it had received a permit under the provisions of the Hydraulic Code. Op. at 1-2. PNA's business partner in the

proposed venture, Taylor Shellfish Company, Inc., moved to intervene and was added as a Respondent. Op. at 2. The superior court dismissed Petitioners' claims, and they filed a timely appeal. *Id*.

Division II affirmed. It found WDFW lacks the authority to issue or enforce hydraulic permits for most projects related to aquaculture. Op. at 25, 29-30; *see also id.* at 21 (the Act "limit[s] WDFW's authority to regulate aquatic farmers when their activities relate to aquatic products."). Specifically, Division II relied upon the reasoning from a footnote to the 2007 AGO, to conclude that the construction of certain aquaculture-related "accessory" structures (bulkheads, boat ramps, etc.) are subject to the Code, but not projects "related" to planting or harvesting geoducks. Op. at 22-23. The opinion thus upholds WAC 220-660-040 as a correct implementation of legislative intent, also finding that the Legislature acquiesced to the AGO's interpretation. Op. at 27-29.

V. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE ACCEPTED

This case squarely meets the criteria for this Court's discretionary review under RAP 13.4(b). Division II issued a *published* opinion, in a matter of first impression, involving interpretation of a significant state

¹ This Court routinely concludes that issues of first impression merit its attention. *See, e.g., State v. Taylor*, 193 Wn.2d 691, 444 P.3d 1194 (2019) (application of *Old Chief* doctrine in no contact order setting); *Tabingo v. American Triumph LLC*, 188 Wn.2d 41, 391 P.3d 434 (2017) (punitive damages in vessel unseaworthiness cases); *Birrueta*, 186 Wn.2d 537

statute.² At stake are critical issues of public policy that are of substantial public interest. *See* RAP 13.4(b)(4).³

Washington is the nation's leading producer of farmed shellfish, and within a short period of time, industrial aquaculture facilities will occupy one-third of the state's tidelands. As the federal courts have recognized, shellfish aquaculture has a substantial cumulative impact on forage fish habitat and is likely to adversely affect critical habitat for endangered species. The Hydraulic Code is the state's central tool for protecting wild fish, and the ecosystems that depend on them, from harm caused by aquatic

_

⁽repayment of worker compensation benefits); *In re Guardianship of Lamb*, 173 Wn.2d 173, 265 P.3d 876 (2011) (use of guardianship fees for advocacy activities); *Dolan v. King County*, 172 Wn.2d 299, 258 P.3d 20 (2011) (public private defender staff entitlement to public pension); *Shoemake ex rel. Guardian v. Ferrer*, 168 Wn.2d 193, 225 P.3d 990 (2010) (prejudgment interest in legal malpractice action); *York v. Wahkiakum Sch. Dist. N1. 200*, 163 Wn.2d 297, 178 P.3d 995 (2008) (constitutionality of random drug testing of student athletes); *King Cnty. v. Central Puget Sound Growth Mgmt. Hearings Board*, 142 Wn.2d 543, 14 P.3d 133 (2000) (recreational use of land in areas designated under GMA for agricultural purposes).

² In particular, this Court often accepts questions of statutory interpretation that are matters of first impression. *E.g.*, *Glass v. Stahl Specialty Co.*, 97 Wn.2d 880, 652 P.2d 948 (1982) (first impression of 1981 tort reform legislation); *Rental Housing Ass'n*, 165 Wn.2d 525, 199 P.3d 393 (2009) (whether a city's response to a Public Records Act request was sufficient to trigger the PRA's statute of limitations); *Birrueta v. Dep't of Labor & Indus.*, 186 Wn.2d 537, 379 P.3d 120 (2016) (interpretation of statute addressing repayment of industrial insurance benefits); *State v. Grocery Manufacturers Ass'n*, 195 Wn.2d 442, 461 P.3d 334 (2020) (whether trade association was a political committee under Fair Campaign Practices Act).

³ This Court recognized the importance of questions regarding the Code's scope when it granted direct review in *Spokane County v. Dep't of Fish & Wildlife*, 192 Wn.2d 453, 455, 430 P.3d 655 (2018), which dealt with the geographic scope of WDFW's Code enforcement authority.

construction, including the type of projects undertaken by commercial aquaculture facilities.

Whether the aquaculture industry must adhere to the Code thus not only has statewide implications for a significant Washington industry, but could have profound repercussions for the health of our state's environment, efforts to protect our aquatic ecosystems, and the fight to save imperiled wild fish and the species that depend upon them, including the Southern Resident Killer Whales.

Division II's ruling misapplies the canons of statutory interpretation and leaves behind more questions than answers. Appellants respectfully ask this Court to grant review to provide a definitive ruling on whether WDFW has not only the authority, but the duty, to protect the state's fish life by enforcing the Hydraulic Code against the aquaculture industry. RAP 13.4(b)(4). Moreover, the Court should grant review to correct Division II's decision, which conflicts with this Court's precedents on statutory interpretation and its expansive view of the Code. RAP 13.4(b)(1).

A. The public has a substantial interest in enforcement of the Hydraulic Code at aquaculture facilities.

Seventy-five years ago, the Legislature enacted one of the state's best tools for protecting state waters—a Code requiring "any person" undertaking a "hydraulic project" to obtain a pre-construction permit to

ensure the project appropriately protects fish. RCW 77.55.021(1). "From its outset, the Hydraulic Code was intended to protect fish life." *Spokane Cty.*, 192 Wn.2d at 455 (citing LAWS OF 1943, ch. 1). Robust enforcement of the Hydraulic Code is central to the state's environmental protection scheme.

As Division II acknowledged, aquaculture often involves hydraulic projects in state waters. Op. at 3-4, 16. Geoduck operators typically insert nine-inch long, six-inch diameter PVC tubes into tidelands, leaving a few inches of tube protruding above the surface. CP 342-43. About 42,000 PVC tube sections are placed per acre, or about one tube for every square foot of beach. Op. at 3; *see* CP 342 (equating to six miles of plastic pipe per acre); CP 343 (photographs). The operator plants two to four juvenile geoduck seeds in each tube, up to 168,000 clams per acre, and covers them all in plastic netting. CP 342. Tubes and nets are removed after the first two years, and five to seven years after planting, operators harvest the clams using pressured water, liquefying the substrate to a depth of two to three feet. CP 292, 345.

Thus, as Division II noted, "geoduck aquaculture is a type of activity that would normally necessitate an HPA permit unless an exemption applies." Op. at 16. And while "the Hydraulic Code lists several express exemptions from its requirements, aquaculture is not included" among them. *Id.* at 16. Despite the lack of an exemption, Division II ultimately

concluded that "WDFW cannot enforce Hydraulic Code permitting requirements on the geoduck aquaculture processes involved in the instant case" because it found that the Aquatic Act had divested WDFW of authority to enforce the Code against the aquaculture industry. *Id.* at 18.

The impact of Division II's decision extends well beyond geoduck farms. Aquaculture facilities that raise other shellfish, such as clams, oysters, and mussels, engage in hydraulic projects such as "suspending shellfish from floating rafts or platforms, growing shellfish in plastic net bags that are either placed directly in the tidelands or attached to artificial structures, and harvesting shellfish either by hand or mechanically." Op. at 3. These facilities often prepare tideland shellfish beds by buying natural sediment under several layers of gravel (CP 336-37); attach wood or metal racks into the substrate (CP 334); and use mechanical "dredge" harvesting (CP 329-30). Operators of finfish net pets may sink dozens of concrete anchors into the ocean bed to hold their nets in place. *See Wild Fish Conservancy v. Cooke Aquaculture Pac. LLC*, No. C17-1708-JCC, 2019 WL 6310660, at *8 (W.D. Wash. Nov. 25, 2019); *Echo Bay Cmty. Ass'n v. Dep't of Nat. Res.*, 139 Wn. App. 321, 324, 160 P.3d 1083 (2007).

Under Division II's decision, the provisions of the Hydraulic Code still require aquatic farmers to *obtain* preconstruction hydraulic permits for these projects, but no entity has the authority to grant such permits, or to ensure that these projects are conducted in a manner that protects wild fish.

Whether that is true—whether fish and shellfish farms are functionally immune from enforcement of the Code, even though they are not legally exempt from its requirements—is a novel issue of substantial public interest. The state's ability to regulate the aquaculture industry under the Code has broad repercussions on its ability to protect wild fish, including several imperiled species, with consequences that reverberate throughout the ecosystem.

B. The meaning of the Aquatic Act, which governs an activity covering more than a quarter of Washington's coastline, is a novel issue of substantial public interest.

The Court has never interpreted any provision of the Aquatic Act, LAWS OF 1985, ch. 457 (codified at chapter 77.115 RCW; previously at chapter 75.58 RCW). That Act reclassified aquatic farming as an agricultural activity, removing fishing license requirements and moving principal industry oversight to the Department of Agriculture. Br. of Appellants at 11-13.

Since the Legislature approved the Aquatic Act, Washington has become the nation's leading producer of farmed shellfish, with the industry producing \$270 million in economic activity each year. Washington Sea Grant, *Shellfish Aquaculture in Washington State* (Final Rep. to Wash. St.

Leg.) (Dec. 2015), at I.⁴ Shellfish aquaculture now occupies more than 50,000 shoreline acres in Washington—roughly 25% of the State's total shoreline. Op. at 3; CP 286 (listing 37,000 active acres, 14,800 fallow acres, and 1,716 acres of new aquaculture activity); CP 1222 (Washington has 216,045 tideland acres). The U.S. Army Corps of Engineers estimates that by 2022, federal permitting may authorize more than 72,000 Washington shoreline acres for commercial aquaculture—one-third of the state's shores. CP 1222-24.

As recounted in Appellants' briefing below, the industrial scale of shellfish farming has significant impacts on the aquatic ecosystem. Br. of Appellants at 6-8; see also CP 1266 (Army Corps analysis concluding shellfish aquaculture has a substantial cumulative impact on forage fish habitat and is likely to adversely affect critical habitat for endangered species); Coal. to Protect Puget Sound Habitat v. U.S. Army Corps of Eng'rs, 417 F.Supp.3d 1354 (W.D. Wash. 2019), aff'd, 843 Fed. Appx. 77 (9th Cir. 2021) (overturning later Corps permit as to commercial shellfish activities in Puget Sound because such activities have more than minimal

.

⁴ Online at https://www.ezview.wa.gov/Portals/_1492/Documents/Shellfish-Aquaculture-Washington-State%20(Dec.%202015).pdf. For the Court's convenience, the report can also be found at this shortened URL: https://bit.ly/3AYWax8.

environmental impact and permit failed to comply with Clean Water Act and NEPA).

The overlap between the Code's broad environmental protection goals, and the Act's broad impact on the aquaculture industry, thus envelopes large areas of public concern in terms of geographic scope, environmental impact, and economic significance. This Court should review Division II's attempt to harmonize the Code with the Act.

C. This Court should provide a final and definitive ruling on an unsettled issue of statutory interpretation.

The Legislature not done anyone any favors by enacting vague, confusing and at first blush contradictory, directions across the decades, which fail to directly take into account the interaction between different portions of the statutory scheme. When adopting the Act in 1985, the Legislature provided a short list of "the only authorities of the department of fisheries to regulate private sector cultured aquatic products and aquatic farmers," which did not include the Code. LAWS OF 1985, ch. 457 §8(2) (codified as amended at RCW 77.115.010(2)). But it failed to provide any indication of how that provision would interact with the protection of *non-farmed* fish under the Code, which at that time was "jointly administered by the Department of Fisheries and the Department of Game." *Orion Corp. v. State*, 103 Wn.2d 441, 451, 693 P.2d 1369 (1985). Nor did the Legislature

explicitly address that issue in the decades since, including when Fisheries and Game were merged to form WDFW in 1993, *see* Br. of Appellants at 34-36; or when the Legislature consolidated the Code's exemptions in 2005. *See* Br. of Appellants at 21-22, 40.

Nevertheless, for many years it remained the common understanding that aquatic farms required, and WDFW could issue, hydraulic permits. *See* Op. at 8-9; Br. of Appellants at 13-14.⁵ The issue finally came to a head when the Attorney General issued the 2007 AGO, which WDFW later implemented through the promulgation of WAC 220-660-040. *See* Br. of Appellants at 17. But the 2007 AGO failed to consider the statutory context of the 1985 Act, including the joint administration of the Code by Fisheries and Game. As a result, its conclusions were erroneous⁶ and entitled to no deference by Division II.⁷

.

⁵ Even Respondent PNA believed a permit was required, and it applied for one in 2014. CP 501-04.

⁶ Indeed, the other conclusion reached by that AGO, regarding substantial development permits under the Shoreline Management Act, was rejected by Thurston County Hearing Examiner Thomas Bjorgen, just a year before he was elevated to the Court of Appeals. CP 593 (concluding that the same AGO failed to consider important parts of the Shoreline Management Act that it was construing).

⁷ In interpreting a statute, this Court often gives "great weight" to an Attorney General's opinion. *Five Corners Family Farmers v. State*, 173 Wn.2d 296, 308-09, 268 P.3d 892 (2011), and legislative acquiescence in that interpretation over time figures into the Court's analysis. *Id.*; *Bowles v. Wash. Dep't of Retirement Sys.*, 121 Wn.2d 52, 63-64, 847 P.2d 440 (1993). But this Court does not treat AGOs as binding and gives less deference to them on issues of statutory interpretation. *Skagit County Pub. Hosp. Dist. No. 304*, 177 Wn.2d 718, 725, 305 P.3d 1079 (2019). Just as an agency's erroneous interpretation of a statute is not entitled to any deference by this Court, whose statutory interpretation responsibilities

Ultimately, given the important public interests protected by the Code, and the prominence of the aquaculture industry in our state, this Court should give the final word on the scope of WDFW's authority, and provide a final and definitive ruling interpreting what role the Legislature intended the Code to play in the regulatory structure governing aquatic farm operations.

D. <u>Division II's decision undercuts the purpose of the Code</u> by effectively exempting aquaculture from regulation.

The ultimate impact of Division II's published opinion is that despite WDFW's broad fisheries protection authority and the Code's broad environmental protection scope, WDFW cannot enforce the Code against a significant commercial industry that is engaged in hydraulic construction on up to one-thirds of the state's coastlines. WDFW cannot effectively protect Washington's wild fish from hydraulic projects if it is unable to enforce the Code against the largest source of such projects.

Division II's holding thus violates a central tenet of statutory interpretation, which is to construe statutes so as to effectuate their purpose.

examine the Act's historical context.

-

are plenary, Bostain v. Food Express, Inc., 159 Wn.2d 700, 715-16, 153 P.3d 846, cert. denied, 552 U.S. 1040 (2007); Senate Republican Campaign Comm. v. Pub. Disclosure of State of Wash., 133 Wn.2d 229, 240-41, 244, 943 P.2d 1358 (1997) (this Court rejected a prior determination of the PDC on a statute's interpretation), an AGO's erroneous statutory interpretation deserves no deference. Here, the 2007 AGO misread the Code and failed to

See Burns v. City of Seattle, 161 Wn.2d 129, 146, 164 P.3d 475 (2007) (in construing a statute, courts should consider the "general object to be accomplished and consequences that would result from construing the particular statute in one way or another."). It is appropriate for this Court to take up this case to give effect to the Legislature's clear intent, and to provide clearer guidance to the agency, the industry, and citizens who are concerned with protecting wild fish from the impacts of aquaculture.

The Legislature has entrusted WDFW to protect the state's wild fish populations:

Wildlife, fish, and shellfish are the property of the state. The commission, director, and the department shall preserve, protect, perpetuate, and manage the wildlife and food fish, game fish, and shellfish in state waters and offshore waters.

The department shall conserve the wildlife and food fish, game fish, and shellfish resources in a manner that does not impair the resource.

RCW 77.04.012. The Legislature's direction on WDFW's management authority is equality clear:

The legislature finds that all fish, shellfish, and wildlife species should be managed under a single comprehensive set of goals, policies, and objectives, and that the decision-making authority should rest with the fish and wildlife commission.

RCW 77.04.013 (emphasis added). WDFW's statutory duties are

mandatory.8

Apart from WDFW's broad legislative charge, the Code's broad environmental purpose is to protect fish, by regulating projects that use or affect state waters. RCW 77.55.011(11). The Code *broadly* defines a "hydraulic project" to which the permit requirement attaches as "the construction or performance of work that will use, divert, obstruct, or change the natural flow or bed of any of the salt or freshwaters of the state." RCW 77.55.011(11). WDFW will issue a permit only if the project will result in "no net loss" of fish. WAC 220-660-080(3)(c).

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