FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
9/20/2021 4:18 PM
BY ERIN L. LENNON
CLERK

No. 100112-6

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

# PROTECT ZANGLE COVE; COALITION TO PROTECT PUGET SOUND HABITAT; AND WILD FISH CONSERVANCY,

Petitioners,

v.

WASHINGTON DEPARTMENT OF FISH AND WILDLIFE; JOE STOHR; and PACIFIC NORTHWEST AQUACULTURE, LLC,

Respondents, and

TAYLOR SHELLFISH COMPANY, INC.,

Respondent-Intervenor.

PACIFIC NORTHWEST AQUACULTURE, LLC AND TAYLOR SHELLFISH COMPANY, INC.'S ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

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

RAP 13.4(b) identifies four potential grounds for accepting review, but Petitioners only rely on two grounds here, contending this case involves a significant question of law and

issues of substantial public interest. Pet. at 3-5. Petitioners' contentions are without merit.

## A. No Significant Legal Question Is Presented

Contrary to Petitioners' suggestion, an issue of first impression has not been identified as a sufficient, or even relevant, basis for the Court's review. RAP 13(b)(3) limits the significant legal questions warranting this Court's review to constitutional questions. No constitutional questions are involved in this case—only statutory—and Petitioners do not expressly rely on RAP 13.4(b)(3).

Nor does this case even pose an issue of first impression. It addresses the regulatory authority of an agency, and there is voluminous case law on this topic. While some cases of regulatory authority invoke difficult questions regarding implied agency authority, here, the question is simple. RCW 77.115.010(2) limits DFW's authority to regulate aquatic farmers and their products to a discrete list of statutes that does not include the Hydraulic Code. As illustrated by the trial

court's order, the answer to this question requires no more than examining the plain language of the statute.

The unambiguous, plain language of RCW 77.115.010(2) dictates that the Washington State Department of Fish and Wildlife does not have authority to regulate the conduct in question. The prohibition against the regulation of "aquatic products" and "aquatic farmers" necessarily, by definition, prohibits the regulation of the farming of those products by those farmers. This unambiguous, language renders further construction inappropriate and renders any other pending motions moot. Accordingly, the Petitioners' claims are DISMISSED.

#### CP 1272.

Petitioners attempt to manufacture a novel question by casting this as a case where DFW retains authority to regulate aquatic farmers pursuant to the Hydraulic Code but lacks enforcement authority. Pet. at 1, 8, 17. Everyone who has examined this issue, including the Attorney General, DFW, the trial court, and the Court of Appeals, has held that DFW lacks the authority to regulate aquatic farmers and their products pursuant to the Hydraulic Code. This is consistent with the statute, which expressly limits DFW's authority "to regulate

private sector cultured aquatic products and aquatic farmers."

RCW 77.115.010(2). Nobody has opined or held that DFW has regulatory authority but lacks enforcement authority in this field. As such, Petitioners are disagreeing with a position that nobody is articulating, and requesting this Court to answer a question that nobody other than Petitioners is asking.

Petitioners also mistakenly rely on this Court's decision to accept review in *Spokane County v. Dep't of Fish & Wildlife*, 192 Wn.2d 453, 455, 430 P.3d 655 (2018). Pet. at 4 n.2. The Court did not articulate a reason as to why it accepted review in *Spokane County*, and the case involved a starkly different question regarding the geographic scope of DFW's regulatory authority, which is not at issue here. *Id*. Nor did the Court suggest that any question involving the scope of HPA permitting warrants granting discretionary review.

This case does not pose a significant constitional, or even statutory, legal issue warranting review under RAP 13.4(b).

# B. No Issue of Substantial Public Importance Is Presented

Petitioners advance several arguments in contending this case presents an issue of substantial public importance. None has merit.

# a. The AFA's Removal of Hydraulic Code Authority over Shellfish Farming did not Reflect a Major Regulatory Shift

Petitioners argue that WAC 220-660-040(2)(1) resulted in a major shift in the implementation of the Hydraulic Code and undercuts the purpose of the Code. Pet. at 5-7, 12-15. This argument has no basis in law or fact.

WAC 220-660-040(2)(1) merely reflects the plain language of RCW 77.115.010(2), which states DFW lacks authority to regulate aquatic farmers and their products except under a discrete list of statutes that does not include the Hydraulic Code. The AFA's removal of Hydraulic Code authority over aquatic farmers and their products did not reflect a major shift in the regulation of this use, as Fisheries only had express authority to regulate projects in marine waters for two

years prior to passage of the AFA. Supra at 3-4. There is no evidence that the Department of Fisheries considered the Hydraulic Code an important, or even relevant, tool to regulate aquatic farming prior to or during this two-year window. Fisheries was instead focused on using the Hydraulic Code to address impacts from shoreline residential development and bulkheads, CP 1202-03, such as those on the west side of Zangle Cove, across from PNA's farm. CP 974. To the extent the legislature saw a need to regulate shellfish activities under the Hydraulic Code, that need was limited to a specific means of mechanically harvesting clams under a section of Title 77 that expressly did not apply to aquatic farmers and their products. Laws of 1985, ch. 457, § 19.

Nor is there evidence that Fisheries (or later, DFW) consistently regulated shellfish farming under the Hydraulic Code after enactment of the AFA. In fact, the record does not contain a single example of Fisheries or DFW requiring or issuing an HPA permit for commercial shellfish cultivation,

either before or after enactment of the AFA.<sup>3</sup> And the "industry guidance" materials that Petitioners have pointed to as acknowledging HPA permits may be required for shellfish farming were not produced by Fisheries, DFW, or shellfish farmers. CP 1217-19, 1226-44. They were prepared by Washington Sea Grant and were addressed to a broader audience that included recreational users who are not aquatic farmers under RCW 77.115.010(2). *Id.*; RCW 15.85.020. They also characterize HPA permits as authorizations that may, but not necessarily would, be applicable. CP 1219, 1240.

In short, the State has never relied on HPA permitting for addressing the environmental interactions of commercial shellfish farming. The trial court and Court of Appeals properly rejected Petitioners' attempt to newly impose HPA permitting

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Petitioners could produce only one example in which an HPA permit has ever been issued for an aquaculture facility, and this was a finfish net pen. CP 551-52.

on aquatic farmers and their products, and this Court should do the same by declining to accept review.

# b. Petitioners' Argument that HPA Permitting Is Necessary to Protect Fish Life Is Contradicted by Record Evidence

Petitioners argue that shellfish farming has adverse impacts and that hence HPA permits should be required for this activity. Petitioners claims of adverse impacts are largely unsupported by record citations and should be dismissed on this basis. *E.g.*, Pet. at 3-5; *Blue Diamond Grp.*, *Inc. v. KB Seattle 1*, *Inc.*, 163 Wn. App. 449, 459, 266 P.3d 881 (2011).

Petitioners also largely ignore that shellfish farming in Washington is already regulated by various federal, state, and local agencies under several regulatory programs. *Supra* at 8-11. As such, shellfish farmers must comply with numerous measures to ensure that their farms protect fish life and habitat, which is the sole focus of the Hydraulic Code. *Id.* RCW 77.55.021(1), (7)(a). Among other things, aquatic farmers must obtain ESA and EFH consultation coverage for their farms and

comply with any resulting conservation measures. Supra at 10-11. In Washington, there is a programmatic ESA/EFH consultation for shellfish farming activities, which was initiated by the 2015 Corps PBA discussed above, that requires farmers to comply with over 30 measures. CP 962-63, 1029-38. To the extent that Petitioners articulate specific issues of concern, such as the placement of gravel or shell material on tidelands, Pet. at 7, these concerns are addressed by programmatic consultation conservation measures, CP 1034 (measure 1, requiring gravel and shell to be clean and applied in minimal amounts using methods which result in less than one inch depth). The programmatic consultation further documents that the very activities Petitioners complain about can have beneficial impacts to fish and habitat. CP 348-49 (artificial structures provide habitat benefits and may increase fish and macro invertebrate species).4

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> These pages are from NMFS's programmatic biological opinion for the programmatic consultation, which responded to

Petitioners mischaracterize Coal. to Protect Puget Sound Habitat v. U.S. Army Corps of Eng'rs, 417 F. Supp. 3d 1354 (W.D. Wash. 2019), *aff'd*, 843 Fed. Appx. 77 (9th Cir. 2021) as evidence that shellfish farming has significant impacts, claiming the court in that case overturned a Corps permit for shellfish farming "because such activities have more than minimal environmental impact and the permit failed to comply with Clean Water Act and NEPA." Pet. at 9-10. The court in this decision actually held that the Corps' analysis supporting a general permit (Nationwide Permit, or "NWP," 48) for shellfish farming was inadequate, not that shellfish farms as conditioned have more than minimal impacts; among other things, the court did not address ESA and EFH conservation measures imposed on farm authorizations through the programmatic consultation. 417 F. Supp. 3d at 1367. In fact this decision demonstrates the extensive level of regulatory review shellfish farms are

the Corps' 2015 PBA and represented NMFS's formal opinion and recommendations on the programmatic consultation.

currently subject to; as a result of this decision, shellfish farms are now permitted through the more rigorous individual Corps permits.

PNA's geoduck farm demonstrates both the stringent regulatory process required for establishing a new farm as well as lack of impacts from this activity. As discussed above, PNA's farm underwent several years of review by Thurston County and the Corps. Supra at 12-14. Petitioner Protect Zangle Cove's representative challenged the permits at every turn, but his claims that the farm would harm fish life and habitat were thoroughly rejected, and conditions were imposed on the permits to protect fish life. *Id*. To this date, Petitioners have failed to articulate a credible basis for a finding that PNA's farm, as approved, would harm fish life, nor have they identified a single additional condition that would be imposed under an HPA permit to protect fish life.

Petitioners' claims that HPA permitting is needed to protect fish life and habitat is undermined by the record and cannot form a basis for accepting review. RAP 13.4(b)(4).

# c. Petitioners' Claims of Rapid Shellfish Farming Expansion Are Inaccurate

Petitioners contend shellfish farming is a rapidly expanding use that "will occupy one-third of the state's tidelands" within a short period of time. Pet. at 4. Petitioners are incorrect.

As of 2015, active shellfish culture occupied 10 percent of the State's tidelands, with most of this activity concentrated in Willapa Bay. CP 353. Moderate amounts of acreage were fallow (seven percent of State tidelands), and the Corps projected very minor growth would occur over the following 20-year period (1,401 acres total, or 0.06 percent of State tidelands). CP 353-54. There is no record evidence that shellfish farming has in fact exceeded this expansion estimate.

Petitioners ignore these estimates and instead fixate on a 72,000-acre figure that appears in a different analysis that

addressed the 2017 version of NWP 48. Pet. at 9. This figure does not represent actual, expected, growth but is an estimate of the total acreage that potentially "could be authorized over a five year period from 2017-2022," and assumed that all land transferred to private individuals under the Bush and Callow Acts would be put into production during this period. CP 1222-23. The Corps developed this figure as part of an analytical exercise, and took a highly conservative approach that it recognized "may ultimately be an overestimation of the acreage that is actually verified and/or put in to active use under NWP 48 2017." CP 1223. Notably, this five-year period (2017-2022) is now almost over, and there is no evidence that shellfish farming has expanded anywhere near at the scale that the Corps assumed could potentially occur. CP 1222.

Even if shellfish farming was growing at a faster pace than the Corps projected in its 2015 PBA, that would not raise an issue of substantial public interest unless adverse impacts were associated with that growth. Given new shellfish farms are

highly regulated by a complex set of other authorities and agencies, no such adverse impacts would result. *Supra* at 22-25.

Petitioners' claim of rapid shellfish farming expansion is unsupported by the record and provides no basis for this Court to grant review.

# d. DFW's Authority over Aquatic Farmers Is Clear and There Is No Outstanding Confusion

Petitioners contend that review by this Court is necessary to resolve confusion with respect to DFW's authority over aquatic farmers in light of the AFA, emphasizing that there is a lack of case law construing the AFA. Pet. at 8, 15.

The record does not demonstrate that there is confusion with respect to the scope of DFW's authority over aquatic farmers and their products as articulated in WAC 220-660-040(2)(1). At most, there was an open question after issuance of the 2007 Attorney General Opinion as to whether aquatic farmers could be required to obtain HPA permits for constructing accessory structures such as boat ramps that are used in association with their farming activities. CP 543. WAC

220-660-040(2)(1) resolved this question by more broadly construing DFW's authority, stating HPA permits are required for such projects. Petitioners don't take issue with how this question was answered but rather over whether routine shellfish farming activities, such as geoduck cultivation at PNA's farm, require HPA permits.

There is no evidence that anyone, including aquatic farmers, DFW staff, or the broader public is confused as to the scope of the agency's authority in light of WAC 220-660-040(2)(l). Hence, there is no need for this Court to provide clarification on this issue, and the Court should decline to accept review. RAP 13.4(b).

The fact that this Court has never interpreted the AFA cuts against Petitioners' request for discretionary review. The lack of prior disputes over the meaning or application of the AFA reinforces that this Act, including the limit of authority in RCW 77.115.010(2), does not raise issues of substantial public interest. RAP 13.4(b)(4).

It is understandable that nobody to date has felt compelled to litigate the meaning of RCW 77.115.010(2), as it is unambiguous and does not require detailed construction or interpretation. CP 1282; *Davis v. State ex rel. Dep't of Licensing*, 137 Wn. 2d 957, 963–64, 977 P.2d 554 (1999). The Court of Appeals, like the trial court and the Attorney General, correctly gave effect to the plain language of RCW 77.115.010(2), which limits DFW's authority to regulate aquatic farmers and their products to a discrete list of statutes that does not include the Hydraulic Code.

Petitioners' contention to the contrary—that the Court of Appeals violated principles of statutory interpretation and failed to give effect to the different terms "aquaculture," "aquatic farmer," and "private sector cultured aquatic product"—is incorrect. Pet. at 15-17; RAP 13.4(b)(1). The Court of Appeals gave effect to these terms in its detailed, well-reasoned opinion. Pet. at A-019-22. The Court properly read the limit of authority in RCW 77.115.010(2) as applying conjunctively to activities

that aquatic farmers engage in with respect to aquatic products, stating: "In some instances, these activities involve cultivation of aquatic products, such as insertion of PVC pipes and installation of netting on tidelands used in geoduck cultivation. In other instances, the activities do not relate directly to cultivation but may involve marketing, transporting, or labeling aquatic products." *Id.* at A-021.

Petitioners, on the other hand, would construe the limit of authority as applying to only non-cultivation activities that aquatic farmer engage in with their products. This reading is inconsistent with the plain language of the statute and has been appropriately and consistently rejected by everyone who has considered this issue. *State v. J.P.*, 149 Wn. 2d 444, 450, 69 P.3d 318 (2003). This Court should decline to accept review simply to once again reiterate the plain language of RCW 77.115.010(2).

#### VI. CONCLUSION

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